NO. 96740-7

RECEIVED

JAN 2 2 2019

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 347541

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASINGTON

DIV. III

DARLENE A. TOWNSEND, PhD

Petitioner

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

Respondents

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darlene A. Townsend, PhD 2803 East Eleventh Ave. Spokane, WA 99202-4306 (509) 536-0843

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Darlene A. Townsend, PhD. is the Petitioner here. She was the defendant at the administrative hearing, and appellant at the trial level and on appeal to Division III of the Washington court of Appeals. She respectfully seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated below in Section II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Dr. Townsend seeks review of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, Darlene A Townsend, PhD. v. State of Washington Department of Health, No. 34754-1-III. A copy of the unpublished opinion is provided in Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether Administrative Hearing Judge Villerreal's refusal or failure to accommodate Dr. Townsend's disability by refusing to schedule an administrative hearing in an Americans With Disabilities Act ("ADA") compliant facility, and refusing to accommodate Dr. Townsend's tardiness to the hearing and as a result of being unable to quickly negotiate the stairs in the five story building in which the hearing was scheduled; and refusal to permit presentation by Dr. Townsend of hearing documentation in substantively the manner dictated by hearing rule, despite Dr. Townsend's status as a disabled pro se defendant constitute procedural unfairness sufficient to set aside the ALJ's hearing decision; and whether the Court of Appeals' refusal to address her procedural argument concerning the failure to accommode should be subject to review.
- B. Whether there are grounds to review the failure or refusal by the Court of Appeals to evaluate the qualifications, thoroughness and veracity of the State's expert witness with respect to the State's expert witness' failure to review the relevant law in relation to the standard of care for Marriage and family therapists in Washington State; the expert witness' acknowledgement at the administrative hearing that she did not in fact review nearly 700 page—treatment record and supporting documents, despite the statement by the Court of Appeals in its decision that the expert did review the entire treatment record; and the failure or refusal by the expert witness to provide citation to the expert's alleged source of documentation of her expert opinion. (The witness testified by telephone, putting Dr. Townsend at a significant disadvantage in cross-examining the witness' testimony.)
- C. Whether the Court of Appeals' refusal to address the decision by the ALJ, who prejudicially refused to permit Dr. Townsend to call her own expert witness, who had extensive knowledge of Dr. Townsend's expertise in dealing with marriage and family therapy, is grounds for review.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Brief Facts.

The record in this matter is extensive. Briefly, Dr. Townsend is a licensed and experienced family and marriage therapist. She is licensed pursuant to Washington law, practicing within the requirements of RCW 18.225 et.seq., specifically marriage and family therapy as defined by RCW 18.225.010(8). Dr. Townsend has also taught graduate courses in Family Systems at Washington State University and served as a consultant to a national professional organization, the National Council for Early childhood Professional Recognition.

In 2008 Dr. Townsend began treating Client A, and eventually, because of family issues Client A's son, Client B, and Client A's then-husband, Client C. Client A had significant issues to deal with, including personal financial issues, as did her child and then-husband. Client A's mental disorder was such that her veracity was often in question. See Administrative Hearing Record pp

A complaint was filed against Dr. Townsend by another client in approximately 2007, and that complaint ultimately resulted in a judgement against Dr. Townsend. Client A heard about the judgement and informed Dr. Townsend that she would eventually get money from Dr. Townsend's insurance company by filing a complaint of her own. Ultimately she did so, and that complaint resulted in the administrative hearing that is now before this Court.

B. Procedure Below:

Client A filed her complaint with the Washington State Department of Health ("DOH") in approximately May 2013. Dr. Townsend attempted a resolution of the complaint with the DOH, but ultimately the case went to an administrative hearing as Case No M2014-663. Dr. Townsend, unable to afford an attorney to represent her, represented herself. As a pro se defendant she was prejudiced not only with unfamiliarity about the process of administrative litigation, but the disinclination of both the DOH prosecutor and the Administrative Law Judge to use their broad discretion to allow Dr Townsend leeway

to stumble and to sometimes fail to comprehend and conform to the procedural rules, including introducing witnesses, cross-examining DOH witnesses, and introducing her own documents. Dr. Townsend was also disabled by injuries to her arm and leg, as well has several debilitating chronic illnesses, but it appeared both the ALJ and the prosecutor believed she was malingering, even though she submitted medical records and several requests for accommodation.

After a two-day hearing in July 2015, much of which was held by telephone, the Administrative Law Judge ruled that Dr. Townsend had committed unprofessional conduct as defined by RCW 18.130.180(4) and suspended her license to practice for four years.

Dr. Townsend appealed to an administrative review officer, who rejected her arguments and entered similar findings of fact and conclusions of law, adding in addition a ruling that Dr. Townsend improperly disclosed confidential information. Dr. Townsend then sought reviewed of the administrative findings and conclusions in the Superior Court of Spokane County. The Superior Court affirmed the hearing officers ruling, and Dr Townsend then appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division III. The Court of Appeals, in an unpublished decision attached to this petition as Exhibit A, the Court of Appeals, after denying oral argument in the case, affirmed the decision of the Superior Court, and declined to address any of Dr. Townsend's arguments concerning procedural unfairness on the basis, essentially, that she didn't know what she was doing.

Dr. Townsend now petitions this Court for discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.1 through 13.4.

V. ARGUMENT

1790

Introduction

Rule of Appellate Procedure 1.2 (RAP 1.2) provides "these rules will be liberally construed to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits. Cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or non-compliance with these rules except in compelling circumstances where justice demands, subject to the restrictions in rule 18.8(b)." RAP 1.2(a). The Rules of Appellate Procedure

make it clear that fundamental fairness is more important than compliance with technicalities, and one must assume that all of Washington's court rules, including those applicable to administrative proceedings, must demand the same standard. Dr. Townsend tried over and over again to present the substance of her case, first to DOH staff, then to administrative officers, and finally to two Washington courts, but fundamentally she has never been able to get to the substance of her case because of procedural failures — on the DOH's and the Courts' parts as well as her own. The issues presented on appeal go to procedural, but ultimately to substantive, fairness.

A. ADA and State Law Disability Discrimination. Dr Townsend was already injured in July 2013 when investigation of the complaint against her started. The record of the investigation indicates numerous instances where Dr Townsend was unable to even make copies of records for submission to the investigator. Medical records submitted from Northwest Orthopaedic Specialists, P. S. her physicians, detail the extent of her injuries, as well as her other extensive problems, and records from Heart Clinics Northwest, PS detail the problems which supported her application for disability status with the Department of Licensing. All of the documentation was apparently ignored by the Office of Administrative Hearings and the hearing judge in setting the case for hearing in a building with at least five floors, no elevator, and no instructions to the parties – at least Dr. Townsend – as to where the hearing was being held. She was late – and admonished by the ALJ – because she climbed up and down the stairs on her crutches trying to find the hearing, the location of which nobody seemed to know. See TAH, p 25 lines 8-14. She was given minimal breaks to get to the bathroom and criticized for wasting the time of the prosecutor and the ALJ. Because much of the testimony – in particular the State's expert witness – was by telephone, Dr. Townsend struggled to hear the proceedings and to manage information in an unfamiliar and relatively hostile setting. See TAH testimony of Harriet Cannon starting page 99 on the 2nd day of hearing.

Washington State Court General Rules, specifically GR 33, outline requests for accommodation by person with disabilities and the means for requesting, reviewing and granting accommodations. It references the Americans With Disabilities Act and Washington civil rights laws. The comments to the Rule provide

that "access to justice for all persons is a fundamental right" and that "persons with disabilities have equal and meaningful access to the judicial system." Washington Court Rules GR 33. The Court of Appeals did not review the circumstances around disability accommodation and hence failed to adequately assure Dr. Townsend's rights were met.

B. Testimony of DOH Expert Witness. The Court of Appeals stated that The DOH expert witness had reviewed approximately 700 pages of records prior to testifying, and in fact gave great credence to that fact. But at the hearing the expert witness' statements made it difficult to determine what she actually reviewed. She referenced a child's drawings at one point, but there were no child's drawings in the materials that Dr. Townsend submitted or that she understood were part of the exhibits. See TAH p. 105. She indicated that she was testifying as to the standard of care, but she never established, other than as merely her opinion, what the standard of care for marriage and family therapy is, other than what in her opinion were apparently "best practices". TAH, p 107. She seemed to indicate she had reviewed the record, at least Dr. Townsend's patient notes, but she did not reference the actual facts of the case. TAH p 108. For example, she asserted that Dr. Townsend had not completed a treatment plan for six weeks, but failed to recognize that the reason for that was that the patient had not returned for six weeks after the initial consultation and Dr. Townsend was unable to proceed. TAH p. 109. The witness indicates Dr. Townsend did not review the Axis II diagnosis with the client, but fails to acknowledge that whether or not to do so is entirely in the judgment of the therapist, and dependent on the facts and circumstances of the client – there may, for example be health and safety reasons not to share that information, and only the therapist can determine that. TAH p 109-110. The expert witness did not provide as evidence the sources for her opinions, though on redirect she indicated to the prosecutor that she was familiar with several references, and the "code of ethics" of the Washington Association for Marriage and Family Therapy and the American Association for Marriage and Family therapy, but nowhere does she establish that the "code of ethics" constitutes the standard of care for Marriage and family therapists in Washington state. TAH pp189-192. The expert witness essentially presented her opinion of what constituted the standard of practice. Id. The witness premised much, if not

all of her opinion that Dr. Townsend fell below the standard of care by asserting that she was wrong to treat more than one member of the family. See eg TAH p.111. She appeared not to be clear on the definition of of marriage and family therapy, which provides, in part, that "Marriage and family therapy involves the professional application of psychotherapeutic and family systems theories and techniques in the delivery of services to individuals, couples, and families for the purpose of treating such diagnosed nervous and mental disorders. The practice of marriage and family therapy means the rendering of professional marriage and family therapy services to individuals, couples, and families, singly or in groups, whether such services are offered directly to the general public or through organizations, either public or private, for a fee, monetary or otherwise." RAC 18.225.10(8). She does not acknowledge, nor does she appear to understand, that the determination of how many members of a family or individuals are treated depends on the professional decision of the therapist. TAH p. 114. The witness testified as to reviewing issues related to Client B, the child, but apparently does not actually have Client B's records. TAH p 112. It is not clear from the transcript whether Client B's records were either reviewed with the witness or submitted as evidence by the prosecutor, even though one of the witness' opinions, without any apparent clinical basis, was that Dr. Townsend should not have been treating multiple family members. She cites "a couple of" white papers as support for her opinions, but those opinions were not made available to Dr. Townsend and so she was unable to cross examine regarding the white papers or the relevance of those white papers to this particular case. Id.

Finally the expert witness testified by cellphone, which prejudiced Dr. Townsend in not only not being to see and assess the witness in person, but in being able to adequately cross examine an "invisible witness". Procedural due process did not occur.

C. Dr. Townsend's Expert Witness. Dr. Townsend was denied the right to call Don Brockett, a witness whose name she submitted to the hearing officer, but who was rejected because his name was apparently not presented "timely". See TAH pp 6 and 23. His name was in fact presented prior to the hearing, and the hearing officer and prosecutor were not delayed or prejudiced because Mr. Brockett was present and

ready to testify on the day of the hearing. See TAH p 121, lines 10-14. His testimony, as Dr. Townsend tried to explain, would have established Dr. Townsend's extensive involvement in family and marital therapy and the law. There was no reasonable basis to deny Dr. Townsend fundamental fairness and have her witness testify. The Court of Appeals simply glossed this issue over and ignored the implications of leaving Dr. Townsend defenseless. The denial of Dr. Townsend request for Mr. Brockett's testimony characterized the entire pre-hearing and hearing process as procedurally unfair to a pro se party.

IV CONCLUSION

The hearing officer several times noted to Dr. Townsend that being pro se did not give her special privileges, but he never acknowledged that a duty of any court is to provide fundamental due process, and that a party representing herself to defend her livelihood and reputation deserves better than being hobbled by procedural technicalities. See eg TAH pp 135-136. The abiding tone of the administrative hearing is that the prosecutor was "out to get" a "bad" practitioner, and that being a pro se party seemed to make it all the more likely that Dr. Townsend was a "bad practitioner."

Requiring a pro se and disabled party no leeway in presenting her case – a case on which her livelihood depends – and further failing to accommodate her disabilities – violates the fundamental premise of access to justice as recognized and incorporated into Washington Court Rules and Washington court proceedings. For the reasons set out above, Dr. Townsend respectfully requests the Court grant her Petition for Review.

Respectfully submitted this 14th day of January, 2019, amended

this 18th day of January, 2019.

laderal Townsel 8 h. D.

Darlene A. Townsend, PhD., Pro Se

2803 East Eleventh Avenue

Spokane, WA 99202-4306

FILED DECEMBER 13, 2018 In the Office of the Clerk of Court WA State Court of Appeals, Division III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

DARLENE A. TOWNSEND, Ph.D.,)	No. 34754-1-III
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
v.)	
)	UNPUBLISHED OPINION
STATE OF WASHINGTON)	
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,)	
)	
Respondent.)	

PENNELL, A.C.J. — Darlene Townsend, PhD, appeals a superior court decision affirming an administrative order suspending her license as a marriage and family therapist for four years. We affirm.

FACTS

Factual background¹

This case arises from the therapeutic treatment of three members of the same family. In April 2008, Darlene Townsend, PhD, a licensed family and marriage therapist, began treating "Client A" at her local practice in Spokane. These therapy sessions

¹ Dr. Townsend did not assign error to any of the findings of fact from her administrative hearing. Those findings are verities on appeal. *Haley v. Med. Disciplinary Bd.*, 117 Wn.2d 720, 728, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991). This factual recitation is primarily drawn from the unchallenged findings of the health law judge (HLJ) and the administrative review officer. The one substantive difference between the findings of the HLJ and the review officer is noted near the end of the factual summary.

continued until 2012, totaling approximately 170 visits.² Dr. Townsend provided Client A with individual, marriage, and family therapy. In November 2009, Dr. Townsend began seeing six-year-old "Client B." Client A is Client B's mother. Dr. Townsend's sessions with Client B continued until February 2012. In 2010, Dr. Townsend began providing therapeutic treatment to Client B's father (Client C). Client C was married to Client A at the time. Dr. Townsend provided Client C with individual, marriage, and family therapy. Dr. Townsend developed treatment plans for Client A and Client B in June 2008 and December 2009, respectively. By the end of 2010, Dr. Townsend was providing therapy to Client A (the mother), Client B (the child), and Client C (the father).

During the course of treating this family, Dr. Townsend provided Client A with small gifts such as teas, herbal remedies, creams, books, and informational pamphlets on herbal remedies. Dr. Townsend also loaned Client A "two garments described as a white wool floor length cape and a red or orange floor length coat" that Client A intended to use for a business venture. Administrative Record (AR) at 387. When Client A's therapy was terminated, Dr. Townsend sought Client C's help in getting the garments returned to her.

² The names of Dr. Townsend's patients that are the subject of the charges against her are confidential. We follow the practice adopted in the administrative and superior court proceedings of not referring to these individuals by their proper names.

During the course of treating Client A and Client B, Dr. Townsend suggested Client B would benefit from antidepressants, including St. John's Wort, an over-the-counter supplement. Dr. Townsend had previously sold (at cost) a form of St. John's Wort to Client A, and Client A felt pressured by Dr. Townsend to provide the same supplement to Client B.

In August 2011, Dr. Townsend sent a letter to Client B's primary care physician in which she recommended treatment, suggesting specific medications and dosages, for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Dr. Townsend also suggested that Client B might need antidepressants in the future. The physician called Dr. Townsend to discuss this letter. The physician expressed concern because he had "never received a letter from a [psychotherapist] giving . . . suggestions for not only a certain class of medication, but a brand name and dose." AR at 421. The physician was also concerned that Dr. Townsend's suggested dosage was four times the recommended amount. The physician was also wary of possible interactions between ADHD medication and Client B's other medications. When the physician brought up St. John's Wort, Dr. Townsend stated it was Client A's idea. The physician then stated Client A had told him differently, and Dr. Townsend replied that Client A was untruthful and difficult. Dr. Townsend then began to describe, in detail, all of the difficulties she experienced with Client A. The

physician reminded Dr. Townsend of privacy obligations and redirected the conversation back to Client B.

Also in 2011, Dr. Townsend attended a meeting at Client B's school. Client A, Client C, the principal, and other school staff were also in attendance. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss Client B's educational needs. Unprompted, Dr. Townsend began discussing masturbation as a behavior associated with Client B. Client A and Client C were shocked, embarrassed, and confused by this because they were not aware Dr. Townsend would raise the topic of masturbation. The principal and school staff were also shocked as they had never observed this behavior in Client B.

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