FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/29/2019 9:21 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96740-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DARLENE A. TOWNSEND, Ph.D.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General LUKE EATON, WSBA No. 49725 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for State of Washington Department of Health OID No. 91030 7141 Cleanwater Lane SW PO Box 40109 Olympia, WA 98504-0109 Phone: (360) 586-3158 lukee1@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Dr. Townsend provides no analysis of how the issues raised in her Petition satisfy any of the requirements of RAP 13.4(b); therefore it is difficult to know which criteria, if any, she is relying upon. Pet. 4–10. Notwithstanding, Dr. Townsend offers no persuasive argument or legal authority justifying this Court's review under any of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b), and therefore it must be denied.

A. Dr. Townsend's Unfairness Arguments Are Meritless

Dr. Townsend's petition suggests that procedural unfairness manifested at her hearing in three ways: (1) the HLJ failed to accommodate her disability, resulting in prejudice that the Court of Appeals did not consider; (2) the Court of Appeals gave too much weight to the Department's expert, resulting in prejudice; and (3) the HLJ failed to allow Dr. Townsend to call an expert witness. Pet. 4. To the extent any of these issues could form a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)—and it is not clear that they could—the petition fails because Dr. Townsend's arguments are meritless.

1. There Is No Evidence That the Department Failed to Accommodate Dr. Townsend's Disability

Dr. Townsend does not cite any specific provisions of the American with Disabilities Act (ADA) or state law that have allegedly been violated, and in any case there is no evidence that the HLJ failed to accommodate Dr. Townsend's disability (*See* Pet. 7–8).

Dr. Townsend claims she "climbed up and down the stairs on her crutches trying to find the hearing, the location of which nobody seemed to know." *Id.* at 7. The Department provided the address and location of the hearing to Dr. Townsend in July. AR 110. In addition, the hearing was held at the Department of Health's office located at 16201 E. Indiana Avenue, Suite 1500, Room 118, Spokane, Washington, 99216. *Id.* This building has an elevator. Likewise, Dr. Townsend claims she was unable to submit copies of relevant medical records to the investigator. *See* Pet. 7. However, she provides no citation to the record to support this assertion.

Furthermore, despite Dr. Townsend's unsupported allegations, the record in fact "shows numerous instances during the preheating process and

the hearing where [Dr. Townsend's] physical needs were accommodated." AR 377–80 (Final Order 5–8). For example, her request for an extension of time to file a response to the Statement of Charges due to her medical condition and recent loss of a family member was granted. AR 377 (Final Order 5). Further, although the hearing was originally scheduled to take place near Olympia, Washington, it was moved to Spokane, Washington after Dr. Townsend sent a letter indicating she was physically disabled and unable to travel to Olympia. AR 378 (Final Order 6). At this time, Dr. Townsend did not provide details regarding the nature of her disability and no other accommodations were requested. *Id.* In fact, when the presiding officer specifically asked Dr. Townsend what accommodations she was requesting, she indicated only that she wanted the hearing to be held in Spokane. *Id.*

Prior to the hearing, Dr. Townsend sent a letter to the presiding officer regarding her proposed witness list and attached medical records related to a wrist injury. AR 378–79 (Final Order 6–7). The letter did not request any specific accommodations related to this injury. AR 379 (Final Order 7).

At the hearing in Spokane, Dr. Townsend arrived using crutches, but did not indicate the need for specific accommodations. *Id*. On the first day of the hearing, Dr. Townsend did not object to the hearing schedule or ask for additional breaks. *Id*. Near the end of the day, when the presiding officer asked how Dr. Townsend how was feeling, she stated that her energy level was "pretty low" due to her health. AR 379 (Final Order 7). Accordingly, the presiding officer immediately adjourned the proceeding until 8:30 a.m. the following day. *Id*. Dr. Townsend did not otherwise request any other accommodations.

On the second day, the presiding officer similarly offered wellspaced breaks and over an hour for lunch. AR 379–380 (Final Order 7–8). The presiding officer noted when Dr. Townsend returned late from lunch, but there is no evidence that this tardiness, nor the presiding officer's notation of it affected the proceedings. For the afternoon break, Dr. Townsend's request for an additional minute was denied—the break was 19 minutes instead of 20 minutes. AR 380 (Final Order 8). There were no other requests for accommodations.

Thus, the Presiding Officer made reasonable accommodations for Dr. Townsend both prior to, and during, the hearing, including moving the hearing to Spokane, allowing breaks throughout the proceeding, and adjourning the proceedings when requested by Dr. Townsend. AR 95, 1301, 1356, 1439–41, 1509, 1580, 1638, 1681. The record supports the Reviewing Officer's finding that Dr. Townsend was sufficiently accommodated based on her requests to the HLJ. AR 20, 23, 36–37, 93, 95, 110, 120, 377–80,

1301, 1356, 1439–41, 1509, 1580, 1638, 1681. Likewise, while Dr. Townsend also appears to argue that she should be exempt from procedural rules due to the fact that she represented herself. *See* Pet. 4, 5, 10. But pro se litigants are not exempt from procedural rules. *See In re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993) (pro se litigants are subject to the same substantive and procedural laws); *Kelsey v. Kelsey*, 179 Wn. App. 360, 368, 317 F.3d 1096 (2014) ("a pro se litigant is held to same standard as an attorney"). Requiring a litigant to follow basic procedural rules is not evidence of bias or discrimination.

Finally, the Court of Appeals was well within its authority to decline to address Dr. Townsend's unfairness arguments because Dr. Townsend cited to no legal authority and provided almost no citations to the record in support of these arguments. *Townsend*, 2018 WL 6584582, at *15–16 (citing RAP 10.3(a)(6)). Similarly, this Court could simply decline to consider conclusory arguments that are unsupported by citation to authority. *Brownfield v. City of Yakima*, 178 Wn. App. 850, 875–76, 316 P.3d 520 (2014) (holding that an appellant's passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration). Dr. Townsend's general citations to the ADA and Washington State Court General Rule 33 (Pet. 6–8) do not establish disability discrimination or failure to accommodate or provide any basis for this Court's review. Thus, Dr. Townsend's claimed violation of the ADA or similar state laws is without merit and does not warrant review.

2. The Court of Appeals Gave the Proper Weight to the Department's Expert Witness Testimony and Correctly Deferred to the HLJ's Credibility Findings

At the outset, Dr. Townsend did not object to Ms. Cannon's expert testimony at the hearing, nor did she object to Ms. Cannon appearing telephonically. Thus, Dr. Townsend has not preserved this claim for review. *Panorama Village Homeowners Ass'n v. Golden Rule Roofing, Inc.*, 102 Wn. App. 422, 426, 10 P.3d 417 (2000). Further, there is ample record in the evidence that Ms. Cannon's testimony was admissible and credible. "[E]xpert testimony is admissible if (1) the expert is qualified, (2) the expert relies on generally accepted theories in the scientific community, and (3) the testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact." *Taylor v. Bell*, 185 Wn. App. 270, 285, 340 P.3d 951 (2014) (citation omitted).

Dr. Townsend argues that Ms. Cannon's familiarity with a "code of ethics" and several other references does not mean she is qualified to testify regarding the "standard of care" for marriage and family therapists. Pet. 8. However, these were not the sole bases for Ms. Cannon's qualification. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that Ms. Cannon was qualified to testify as to the standard of care for marriage and family therapists in Washington and whether or not Dr. Townsend's treatment of the family met that standard, noting that Ms. Cannon has "a master's degree and certificate in addiction treatment from Seattle University, membership in two clinical professional organizations, 30 years of experience and continuing education, and 22 years of experience in private practice." *Townsend*, 2018 WL 6584582, at *10, AR 375 (Final Order 3). Dr. Townsend does not contest these qualifications or explain why they are insufficient.

Next, Dr. Townsend argues that the expert's opinion hinged on a fundamental misunderstanding that marriage and family therapy cannot occur in groups or as couples. Pet. 8–9. But that was not the expert's or the Department's position. Rather, the expert testified that the standard of care requires a thorough assessment to determine whether it is in the client's interest to treat multiple family members. AR 1552–54, 1556–57, 1559–60, 1595, 1598–99. Ms. Cannon identified Client A's vulnerability and trust issues as contraindicating concurrent treatment with her spouse and Client B. AR 1551, 1556–57, 1559–60, 1596, 1598. Further, the expert's opinion that Dr. Townsend's behavior fell below the standard of care was not so narrow. Ms. Cannon also testified that Dr. Townsend's abrupt cessation of Client A's treatment after 3 years was "very harmful." AR 1590, 1592. Ms. Canon further testified that it was "most unusual" for a marriage and family therapist to suggest a specific medication to a physician. AR 1562. Further, the standard of care is to protect client confidentiality regarding information

shared in a treatment session. AR at 1565–67, 1573–76. With children, a therapist should first consult with parents and seek their consent. AR 1568.

In an apparent attempt to attack the expert's reliance on generally accepted theories in the scientific community, Dr. Townsend argues that the white papers the expert relied on were not available to Dr. Townsend, so she could not effectively cross-examine Ms. Cannon as to those white papers. However, these white papers were publically available, were not exhibits, and were referenced by Ms. Cannon to provide a general background of well-established principles governing marriage and family therapy. AR 1602, 376 (Final Order 4). Further, the expert also relied on a "Child Psychotherapy" book and the American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy's code of ethics, and Dr. Townsend does not take issues with any of these sources. AR 376 (Final Order 4).

The remainder of Dr. Townsend's arguments regarding the Department's expert at most demonstrate that Dr. Townsend disagrees with Ms. Cannon's assessment. For example, Dr. Townsend believes it is entirely within her judgment to not review an Axis II diagnosis with her client—but that is just her opinion. Dr. Townsend also speculates that the expert failed to review the entire treatment record because the expert made a reference to a child's drawing that Dr. Townsend does not believe is part of the record, gave an incomplete summary of why Dr. Townsend did not complete a 6-

week treatment plan for a patient, and did not have access to Client B's records. Pet. 8, 9. But she provides no authority or evidence to support these claims and therefore they should not be considered. *Brownfield*, 178 Wn.App. at 875–76.

In any case, these disagreements are not a basis for reversing the Court of Appeals, or for even discrediting or excluding Ms. Cannon's testimony. Conine v. Cty. of Snohomish, No. 57961-4-I, 2007 WL 1398846, at *8 (Wash. Ct. App. May 14, 2007) (unpublished) (Disagreement between the plaintiff and defense experts goes to the weight, not the admissibility, of the evidence); United Airlines, Inc. v. King County, 194 Wn. App. 384, 392, 376 P.3d 471 (2016) (disagreement between expert witnesses does not create a material issue of fact); In re Pers. Restraint of Keefe, 159 Wn.2d 822, 831, 154 P.3d 213 (2007) (expert witness is only required to have a "reasonable basis" of information about a subject before offering an expert opinion). This is especially true where there was substantial evidence beyond the expert's testimony to support a finding that Dr. Townsend's treatment of Clients A, B, and C fell below the standard of care. Townsend, 2018 WL 6584582, at *10–15 (noting that the testimony of Client A, Client C, Client B's principal, the Department's expert witness, and the administrative record all consistently support the allegations of unprofessional conduct).

At most, these issues—to the extent they are viable—would go to credibility. However, the Court of Appeals properly applied Washington law by not second-guessing the HLJ's credibility decision where the findings of the HLJ and the review officer are not in conflict. AR 376–77, 392–93; *see Townsend*, 2018 WL 6584582, at *9 (citing *Hardee v. Dep't of Soc. Health Servs.*, 172 Wn.2d 1, 19 n.11, 256 P.3d 339 (2011)). Reviewing courts in Washington generally accept the fact finder's views as to the credibility of witnesses and weight given to reasonable but competing inferences. *State ex rel. Lige & Wm. B. Dickson Co. v. County of Pierce*, 65 Wn.App. 614, 618, 829 P.2d 217 (1992).

Thus, Dr. Townsend's contentions regarding the Department's expert witness are without merit. Ms. Cannon was qualified and her testimony was helpful to the Presiding Officer as the trier of fact and necessary to establish the standard of care relevant to marriage and family therapist. AR 392 (FF.2.24), 1546–1601.

3. The HLJ Properly Excluded Dr. Townsend's Expert Witness

Dr. Townsend also claims that the administrative proceeding was unfair because her expert witness was excluded. Dr. Townsend claims that her expert witness would have supported her allegations that she did not provide treatment below the standard of care. Pet. 9–10. A Presiding Officer has wide discretion to regulate the course of proceedings under the APA. RCW 34.05.449(1); *King Cty. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 2 v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, 178 Wn.2d 363, 373–74, 309 P.3d 416 (2013), citing *UWMC v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, 164 Wn.2d 95, 104, 187 P.3d 243 (2008). Such discretionary decisions are not disturbed absent a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 571–572, 940 P.2d 546 (1997).

Here, Dr. Townsend's proposed expert testimony was properly excluded because Dr. Townsend offered it after the deadlines set by the hearing scheduling order and prehearing conference. AR 26–27, 384 (Final Order 12).

B. There Is No Other Basis for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)

Finally, out of abundance of caution and because Dr. Townsend fails to specify a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b), the Department briefly addresses each prong. As explained above, to the extent Dr. Townsend's references to procedural due process and unfairness intend to establish that this case raises a significant constitutional question, these arguments are without merit. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Second, Dr. Townsend fails to identify any Supreme Court or published appellate cases with which the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts, and the Department is aware of none. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2). Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is "not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." *State v. Manajares*, 197 Wn. App. 798, 391 P.3d 530 (2017), citing *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962). Furthermore, the Court of Appeal's decision was unpublished, and therefore could create no precedent and no conflict with existing Washington law.

And third, the Court of Appeals decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest as the principal issue before it was specific to the facts of this case—i.e., whether there was substantial evidence to support the suspension of Dr. Townsend's license. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(4). The Court's affirmation of the Department's final order suspending Dr. Townsend's license merely requires Dr. Townsend to comply with the laws governing the discipline of health care professionals in Washington. While Dr. Townsend's treatment of her patients was egregious, the case itself is an unremarkable judicial review of an administrative order under the Administrative Procedure Act. Therefore, this case does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b).

V. CONCLUSION

The disciplinary authority issued a Final Order containing detailed findings of fact fully supported by the administrative record. This order has been affirmed by the Spokane County Superior Court and Division III of the Court of Appeals, with the Court of Appeals noting that "[t]he record contains substantial evidence to support each finding against Dr. Townsend." *Townsend*, 2018 WL 6584582, at *9.

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